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This 1& au oral history intarview bald on Janusry 19, 1984, with Gelleral 

Lyman L. Le1lDitzer, 1n Gen. Lemnitzer l
• office in tb-. Pentagon. 

Matloff: General. 1f .. lIAY first concentrate oo"your poe1t1on .. Cbair.an 

of the Joint Chief. of St~f, from 1960 to 1962 J I wonder if you csn recall 

tha c:1rcwutancea of your appoint_nt to that poait1on--bow it ea_ about, 

what lnat:ructlona or directives, written or oral, were given "to you, aDd b,. 

whoa? 

Le1ll1L1tzer: I had beeu Chief of Staff of the Army, during '58-'59-'60, a two 

yeara' tenure, and we were eoalng to the end of Prea. liaenhover'a terll of 

of fice, in the sw.er. Another factor that entered into it waa that Gen. 

Twining, who vaa my predecessor aa Chalr11&U, w.. 111, and. durlua the aw.er 

be decided that be could not undertake an,. add! tional period as Cba1run. 

So, haviDi been Chief of Staff of the Aray, with Gen. Twining stepping 

out, an election eoaing up, a change of cOIIII8Ild, 80 to apeak--all thon 

thinga worked toward my notification by the Secretary of Defenae Gatea, and 

Secretary of the At'll,. Brucker I that they _re goluS to DOminate me as the 

Cc:aaander 1n Chief of the European Caaaand, and IlOIlinate ... a. Supra. 

Allied COlI_Mer. How, mat people believe that the PTealdent of the 

United States appoints the Supre .. Allied Ca..ancler; be doea Dot. 

Hatloff: Shall we apeak a~ the Chairman of the Joint Chiefa firat? 

Then we'll apeak later about the SACBUa. Latla concentrate the first 

part of the interview OD the firet period, if we may. 

La1lD1Uer: But that'. how thi. c:aae about. 
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Matloff: Twining wa. your predecessor. 

Leanitzer: That's correct, and when he decided that be could not undertake 

an extension of the tour because of his illness, 1 was no.1nated by Secretaries 

Brucker and Gates, aud approved by President Eisenhower. whom 1 k.new very well 

aa a result of our World War It service. 

Hatloff: Can you recall any instruction8 or directives, written or oral, 

that were given to you by the President or by tbe Secretary of Defense, 

about the new position that you were goIng to be fll11n8! 

Leanltzer: I don't recall any written instructiona, but I was very fa.11-

iar with the 188ues of the day. Those larsely Involved weapon improvement, 

nuclear activities. and the size of American forces at the time. As 

Chief of Staff of the ~y. 1 had been running into great difficulties 

with the Defen •• Department because it was generally felt that DUclear 

weapons were the panacea of all military issue8 and that resulted in the 

tendency to cut back. the Aray and put greatar emphasis on strategic air, 

naval aviation. and 80 on. 

Matloff: This brings up the que.tion; in your View, was your position a8 

Army Chief of Staff a help or a handicap when you were given this new 

position? 

Leanitzer: I had been deaUna with these problellB as Army Chief of Staff, 

and I recognized that I was in a different position. but there waa one 

problem that bunS over the wbole activities of the Joint Chiefs of Staff 

at that ttRe. Most of the two years that I was Chief of Staff of the 

Aray we we~. involved in it. And that w .. --there were great d1aasreementa, 
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or practically 110 agreeante. on what our Itrategic plana _re. We 

didn't have a plan. I recall that Gen. TWining atarted keeping a lilt of 

the 1.8""., where there were differences of opinion, in all aspects of 

atratelic plana--for exaaple, on strategic bombing, to pinpOint it. 

Strategic bGabing plana ware what .. needed and didn't have. I think 

he boiled it doVQ to about 20-soae iuues. on which there va. great 

diversity of opinion aJIODg the Cbiefa, and we were never able to co... to 

agreement on many of them. So, one of the first thing_ that I undertook 

when I beea. Cbalrman and took over from Gen. Twining t on 1 October 

1960, vas to see if we couldn't break throulb this iap ... e on strategic 

bollbins· 

Matloff: The initial prableas were .tratelie baSically? 

Le1lll1czerl lea. 

Matloff: Did you .. t any priori tie. for yourself, or were any _ t for you 

by tbB President or tbe Secretary of Defenae, in handl1us your functions! 

Did they say that certain taaks were upper1lOat! 

Le.a1tzer: No, no one atteapted to set any priorities within the Cbief., 

but 1 set the strategiC bocbins problea rilht at the top. It was obvious that 

there were so tany dive rae vieve; that we didnlt bave a plan; and that that 

W88 the aumber one priority within the organization. 

Matloff: Did that ehause in any way during the course of the two years that 

you _nedt Were there other functions or other probleas that callie to the 

fore of even greater i.portance, or of equal importance? 
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Lemnitzer. No. there vere DOt any problema of equal iaportance, in my 

view, and I can tell you how I attacked this problem and how we resolved 

it. I set that as high priority, and al80 almolt parallel with it, I felt 

that the quest10n of the so-called mi8811e gap was arising. The latter was 

a very controversial u",e. There were no agreements between the various 

aaeneies involved. And that problem waa one that took a very very bad 

turn, in .y op1010n, because the politic. of it vas that there waa a great 

missile gap between our capabilities in tbe nuclear weapons and strategic 

boabina area and those of the Soviet Union. 

Katloff: Did you feel that there was such a gap when the question first 

calle up about this so-called ".18s11e sap"? 

Lemnitzer: No, matter of fact. I thought that there was a 8mall gap, but 

that we were 111 the lead. The 8tranae thing about it\ WB8 that in the 

campa 19B , it eaae out the other way around--tbat there wes a great m1&sile 

gap between our capability and the Soviet Union and that the Sovieta were 

way ahead of U8. That was the way it ended up in politics. I don't think 

it would be out of place here just to mention that durinl my first weeks, I 

spent a lot of time briefing President Kennedy on nuclear mattera. I urged 

President Eiaenhower in hi. contacts with President Xenuady, When he was 

coming in office, to 88siat, because the new President had DO idea about 

these problems. 

Matloff: In the ebange of adainistration froa Prea. Eiaenhower to President 

Kennedy, did that in any way change your position. your functions, or con-

ceptiona of your role? 

Le1l1litzer: No, it did not. There vaa another issue in the transition that 

caae out loud and clear, and that was the problem or the likelihood of getting 
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into trouble with the Soviet Union on the contacts with Berlin. Tbere was 

hara .... nt by the Soviet. on the Autobahn and in the air cprridors, which 

worried President Kennady greatly. 

Matloff s So .oae Issues belan to corae to the fore that hael not been on the 

front burner? 

Le1lllitzer: They were not 011 the front burner hacau.e the nuclear issue 

overehadoweel all the other things at that particular time. 

Matloff: We'll touch on the Berlin crista later. Let'a talk a little 

about inter.ervtee rivalry. Certainly a. Army Chief of Staff you had run 

into that. As Chairman of the Joint Chiefe, how serious a problem was the 

intereervtee rivalry and eoapetition for you? Did that have a great impact 

durtna your tenure on operations, program., and policies? 

Leanitzar: In general, it did not. I think that one of the reasoDS for 

this is, that the interserviee rivalry during my Chief of Staff tenure 

primarily involved use of aviation, air defense, and thiug. of this char-

aeter. Airlift was a major factor. Fortunately, a clas.mate of aine, 

Gen. Thomaa White, was Chief of Staff of the Air Force when I was Chief 

of Staff of the Any, and on several occa.ions we worked out issues that 

had never been worked out suecassfully between ue. I think we had a 

closer rapport When Gen. White was Chief of Staff of the Air Force. He 

waa followed by Gen. LeHay, ae you know. Nov there's one other feature 

that came in here. Airlift turned out to be quite a controveraial issue. 

I kept pointiul out before congre8sional comaittees as Chairman, just aa 

I had p~evlou.ly When I waa Chief of Staff of the Army. that we didn't 
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have enough airlift. My problea waa that everybody else thought that we 

did have enough airlift. This i.lue turned out to be a major iSlue 

between the Army and the rest of the services. Gen. Twining thought we 

had aaple airlift. Even Gen. White thought we did. The Secretary of 

Defenle thought we had enough aIrlift, and so did t~e President. On one 

accaBion whil. 1 wa lUll Chief of Staff of the Amy, Mr. Vinson at oue 

hearing laid, MGaneral, you claia that we're very deficient in airlift 

and everybody elle think. otherwise. I'a tired of thele discussloUl and 

I f1ll going to appoint a chairman of a subeOlla1tt8e to uaaine the whole 

airlift probl~. 1'. golng to appoint as chairman Hr. Mendel Rivers, and 

we're goinS into all features of this particular issue, and we're going 

to get it settled." To make a long story short, the hearings lasted 

about two month8. I attended everyone of them, and when an issue came 

up, I was always called upon to I.Y loaething. That cOIUIittee unanbaoualy 

agreed that we were very deficient in airlift and that we had to undertake 

a new program becauae we didn't even have a new airplane in our inventory 

that we were g01ng to build. This relulted in the adoption of the C-141, 

the first jet airlift aircraft. 

Matioff: Did you flnd that, al a result of these differencea of views of 

lome of the services at least on the questiona of airlift and other 1s8uel, 

pos8ibly, you as Chairaan and the Joint Chiefa as a corporate body were drawn 

into the d18cU88ionB and decisions over budget formulation? 

Le1mit:zer: Iudeed. a8 Chief of Staff of the Anay. 1 thought that we were 

setting shortchanged. 
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Matloff: Bow about in the other role, a. Cbait'1ll8D. of the Joint Chiefs, 

where you had to sit in on the whole sho.? 

Le1Ulitzer: By the tille 1 beca .. Chairman lO1le of the issues bad been 

reaolved. I reaember that the i.aue of nuclear weapona and SODe of our 

nuclear weapon aDd ai •• ile problems occurred durinl the period when Admiral 

Radford was the Chaiman of the Joint Chiefs of Statf and even when 1 was 

Vice Chief of staff of the Aray. Adm. Radford thought that the nuclear 

weapon wae tbe panacea of all the military illl, and that we just didn't 

need any large forcel--that ailitary issues could be settled by nuclear 

vaapoQ. 

Matloff: Is there anything that you and tbe Secretaries of Defens. with 

whoa you aerved--Gat.s, McNamara--did or tried to do to mitilat. the c:aa-

petition among the lervic •• , do you recall? Each one ... trying to set a 

piece of the budlec, obviously. 

Leanitzer: That was true then, and it's true today. In discussions that we 

had, within the Chiefs, we were able to resolve 801De of these issues, and in 

aome cases they had to go up to the Secretary of Defens. and even to the 

president. To go back now conaiderably further. I took over fro. Gen. 

Taylor as Chief of Staff of the Army, He bad taken several luues of 

splits. budgetary problem •• past the Sacretary of Defense to the President. 

A.. a .atter of fact he didu't come out very successfully, because in most 

caaes the decisions of the Secretary of Defen.e and the recOlmlendationa 

of the then Chair1U.l1, Ada. Radford, were pntty much adopted. 
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.. ------------

Matloff: Let 1Ie uk you about your relationship as Chaintall with the 

Secretary of Defeuse. the Deputy Secretary of Defeuse, aad other top 

officials in OSD. Row often did you meet with the Secretary of Defenae, 

and Deputy Secretary of Defense? 

Leanltzer: We undertook a regular weekly meeting with the Secretary of Defense. 

Katloff: Are you speaking now about all the Joint Chiefa? 

Lemnitzer: All the Joint Chiefs meeting on Monday afternoon. at 2:00. 

We sUIgested. and Secretary Gates agreed wholeheartedly, that we have a 

.. eting with the Secretary of Defena. each week. and we maintained that 

all during .y tenure. 

Matloff: This vas a180 when Secretary MCNamara took over? 

Leanltzer: Yes. clear down with Secretary'MCNamara. 

Matloff: Was the Deputy Secretary in on theae discussions too? 

Leanitzer: Occasionally. Deputy Secretary Quarles, I r .... ber. once or 

twice conducted dbese, because the Secretary was out of the city. We 

tried to maintain this regularity of a meeting every week. But it didn't 

exclude the possibility of a special meeting on a certain issue occasionally. 

I muat say that many of those issues were budgetary. 

Matloff: As Chairman, how did you haucUe the problem of split views in the 

Joint Chiefs, particularly with reference to the Secretary of Defense and 
• 

Le'U.1taar: All during .y t1_ as Vice Chief of Staff and Chief of Staff 

of the Aray I was rather d1s .. yed and frustrated that iu the co.aitta •• 

that were preparius papers and .0 00. there was insufficient pra.ptne.8 
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in resolving those i8aue8. When 1 became Chairman, one of the first 

thing_ that I did wa_ to indicate to the Joint Staff that • problem 

that ca •• ed an iapa8se would not reaain at an tapa88e longer than one 

week. That. in .y opinion, went a long way to speeding up soae of the 

activitie.s we bad in the Joint Staff. In my appearance before Congress 

la8t year on the reorganization of the Joint Chief., I pointed this out 

as ana of the first thing_ that I did to speed up the activities. So, if 

there waa a difference of opinion within the coamittee., the problem ca.e 

up to the Joint Chiefs, and if we split in thet area, it went to the 

Secretary of Defense right away. 

Matloff: Did you also superimpoae your own views, if they were different? 

Leaultzer: Yea, 1 had my paper prepared as Chaiman. I want to cone en-

trate soaewhere alemg here, whenever you think it's appropriate, on how 

we resolved the SlOP, Single Integrated Operational Plan. 

Matloff: If this was one of the questioDs of the splits, if you'd like to 

use that a8 an example. 

Lelll1itzer: This was the pre-eminent split. This is the course I adopted. 

I told Secretary Gates that this was an impossible situation, that the 

Chiefs were earnestly calling the situation as they saw it. but: that we 

weren't getting anywhere. I recommended to Secretary Gat •• that I call 1n 

all the unified and specified commandera, and the Chiefs, and we'd go out 

to OUba. I think that we want out on a Wednesday. We argued theae twenty-

80ae prluciples--wbere there was differences of oplnion--for about three 

day.. We resolved all but about five or six i.aues. I called Secretary 
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"---"--~~--------------------------

Gate. on Friday and told hi. that va had resolved quite a number of these 

but that we had five or six issuea etill unresolved, aDd I suggeeted that 

he co.e out on Saturday and we would present the splits to him, to sa. what 

his decisions wer •• and s.e if we couldn't resolve this proble •• He case 

out on a Friday, actually. 1 know that I presented .y attitude, Which was 

different from any of the Chiefs on one or two of them. and each one had 

his say on theBe splits. Secretary Gates ade the decision on all of thea. 

On Saturday moruina we had a meetina--Secretary Gatee wae there-and I 

announced the decisions on these iS8ueS. Then I aeked the group pres.nt, 

the unified and specified ca.aandera and the Chiefs of Staff, "Is there any 

of you that can't live with thee. deci8ion.t" They 8a1d no. So we ~te 

out a short camauniqui on Saturday morning at Offutt Base in Omaha. There 

were hundreds of pres. people because they aaw this gathering of the braes 

in Omaha and thought that something big was going on. Secretary Gates and 

1 went into the comaanderts office and we called the President. I should 

have 8ald all alons that I had acquainted the President with what 1 proposed 

to do, the basis for goina out to Offutt. 

Matloff: Thia wa. President Eisenhower? 

Lellll1itzer: Eisenhower. I pointed out to the Preaident that we bad resolved 

many of the iSBues, e~cept five or atE. Secretary Gates had come out and 

bad made the decision on dne five. and we wanted to i.lue a coaaun1qu@ to 

the prea., indicating that complete aareesent had now been reached. I 

re.aber a. thouah it happened yesterday. He said. "Put my na.e to that 

lI8t.~ So When the c~uniqua wa. i.sued, it Indicated that there wa. 
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agreement tn the Chiefs, that the President and the Secretary of defense 

were agreed, and that the Single Integrated Operational Plan, SlOP, would 

be built i..ediately. 

Matloff: Were there any other eases of split. being taken to the President 

himself? 

LeIll1! tzer : No, I don' t re •• ber of fhand • I may think. of aome. 

Matloff: How did you handle the problem when Congreaa showed an interest 

in views of the Joint Chief.? Were there ever any cases where you had the 

probl •• of handling aplics in dealing with Congres.? 

La.nitzer: It happened frequently. The kind of proble. we ran into fre-

quently occurred, in .y opin10n, between the a1litary and the eivilian 

leadership. 1 recall appearing with Secretary Brucker of the Aray. I made 

.y presentatlon and he .. de his presentation. Then they had given U8 a 

question period. Every once in a while, this was in the Senate partic:u-

larly, but not always in the Senate, eoaetimes in both houaes, when they 

didn't alree with something the Secretary said, they would put the question, 

"General, you were Chief of Staff of the Aray. what did you recommendT- In 

several CBsas, we recommended differently frOID the Secretary. And that'a 

the way we bad to leave it. Then it was up to the Congreas to resolve that 

particular issue, if it involved IDOney and authority. 

Matloff: Let .. ask you about working relationahips with the State Depart-

mant and ita Secretary when you were Chairun. Did you have 1a8Ily dealings 

with the State Department and with its Secretary? 
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Leanitzar: CoDtlnuoualy. 'lh1s vas DOt such of a problell for me t because 

I had been working with the State Depar~eot on the development of the .i1-

itary aid progr •• and the drafting of the NATO treaty. You see, I had been 

called from .y assiga..ot as Deputy Chief of Staff of the National War 

College by Secretary Porrestal to represeot hill, and I went to Europe to 

.. et with a .ilitary comaittee of the five powers, which wal the ailitary 

8ide of the Brussels Pact. I Val involved in the drafting of the NATO 

treaty, work ins with State--with Jack Obly, Ted Achilles, aDd aaoy others. 

t had 'Very little problellls, alllost none, In dealing with _embera of the 

Depar~nt of State. 

MaUoff: Did you have frequent deaUnga as Chairman with the Secretary of 

State? Or were you dealing with other parts of the State Department? 

Leanitzer: No, I did not. 1 knew Dean Acheson and John Poster Dullea very 

well. 1 did not have problems with issues between 818te and Defenae. 

Matloff: How about access to the President as Cbairaan? Did you have 

direct acceS8 to the president or dId you have to go through the staff 

secretary or later the national security asslatant, as be was called? 

Bow were you able to get to the president if you wanted to? Letla take 

PresIdent Ei8enhower, then President Kennedy. 

Lemnitzer: No px-oble1l8 in elthex- case. All I had to do wa. to exprees 

au opinion that I wanted to Bee theil, and 1 never had anything turned 

down. 

Ketloff: Did you have to go through the Secretary of Defense? 
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LellDitzer: Yea. Por ezallple, both the Secretary of Deiellee aad the 

Preddent made it dear vben 1 bec8Ile Chairman--and they knew that I 

had been in the circuit for awblle--that I alway. bad acC8as to the •• 

1 naver had any quala. about not having personal contact with the 

Secretary of Defenae or the President. 

Matloff: Dld it change 1n any way when Kennedy becaae pre.ident? 

Lean1tzer: No, it did not. As a matter of fact, one of the thinsa 'Nbich 

I appreciated very much waa that there waa no change, because here w .. a 

preddent who was tak.ina over froll a preaident that had been 10 the 

IIllttary all of his l1fe and the proble •• were entirely different. Be 

Deeded lot. of briefings for exallple t on the SlOP. the use of nuclear 

weapolls. alert plana, and thing. of this kind. 

Matloff: Let's talk a l1ttle about the perception of the Soviet threat 

when you were Chairman. Do you recall your view of the Soviet threat 

when you aseuaed that office? 

LellDitzer: I bad made up .y mind on that long before 1 became Chairman. 

I was ill genaral agre ... nt that the Soviet. were a threat, that they had 

outbuilt U8 in .Uitary forces, and so on. I vas a firm believer in the 

draftiUS of the NATO treaty. 1111 such a believer in NATO that 11m still 

spend ina .y time in the lecture and public .peak.ing prograa today. So I 

just .. intained that particular view all the way througb--and it wal 

confirmed by intelligence. 

Matloff: Did your vi81111 change 1n any way aa a result of your experience 

as Chairman of the Joint Chief.? 
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LeJIII1tzer: No. 

Katloff: Wera there any dIfferences among the Joint Chiefa of Staff on 

perceptions of the threat, or were you pretty UDani.ou8 a. to what the 

threat W88 and how it appeared? 

Le1IInhzar: I don't recall that we had any areat differencea within the 

Chiefs. Occasionally we got soae difference of opinion betwaen the 

civilian aide of Defenae, the varioua ... iatant secretaries and 80 on, 

regarding the intenaity or the character of the threat. But within the 

Chiefa, during .y time. I jU8t donlt recall any major split that we had, 

insofar a8 the m •• n1tude of the threat waa concerned. 

Matloff: Dld you flnd any differencea between Defense and State over the 

threat? 

Lemnltzer: Occaa1onally, ye8. But the one case that I reaeaber wea in 

drawins up the first military aid progra~and now I'. golng back before 

lIlY tenure aa Chainum--ve calle up with the first budget on that proaraa. 

Aa 1 recall it, the comaittee on which I was the Defenae repre8entative 

for Mr. Forreatal came up With a $1.1 billion recoaaendation for military 

aid in the '49 or 'SO budget--I don't recall which, but the first one. I 

Waa a me.ber of the PMACC. the Foreign Military AS8istance Coordinating 

Ca.aittee. aDd we were repre.entatives of our respective secretaries. 

When that request went to the Office of Mana.se:unt and Budaet, Watch was 

the Bud.at Bureau in thoae daYB, it recoamended a reduction form the $1.1 

bUllon to $900 and sOlIe .UUon. We in the FMACC proteated vigorously. 

I don't know how our prot.ata got to President Truaan, but we poiuted out 
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to the president-it wa. 1n the paper, and I don't reeal! any persona! con-

tact with the prealdent--that if this proar.m waan't at least $1 billion, 

it would not !apreas aaybody. Between the secretariea, who were with us 

on this. and the FMACC. with their military and foreiBn policy people, 

the president IIOved it back up over $1 billion. 

Matloff: ~1a vas before your per10d a8 Chai~n? 

Le.o!tzer. &ight. 

Matloff: Let a. alk you on strategy and strateslc planD1US during your 

tenure as Chairman--who was primarily responsible and influential? the 

Joint ChiefaT the Secretary of Defense's shop! the servicea? Who was 

.. kina the atrategy in the DefeDse Departaent? 

Ltmnitzer: 1 would 8ay that ·it was a combination of them all. There 

wasn't any sharp d1fference in issuea. Where the disagreeaenta came was 

in dealing with the rolea and missions of each of the service. to get the 

wherewithal, the material and the personnel to carry out ita particular 

responsibilities. 

Hatlotf: Do you recall what the squabbles were in thole days, the differences 

1n the sarvice outlooks! 

Lemn1tzer: The firat one was due to the general tendency to believe that 

nuclear weapons took care of a lot of the military problema. To a lot of 

people around force. were not required in the future. That started under 

Gen. Taylor, wben he waa chief t and then I caa. alona. Therein lay the 

probln. We had also a proble. of air defense. We bad • hell of a time 

with the differences within the .ervlcea--the Air Force was de~elopiog a 
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weapon known aa the BOMAJl.C; the Amy was developing the NIlB. I recall 

aomething now that I ahould have covered before where we had differences of 

opinion, and that was in spac:e. That occurred when I was Cha1raan. As a 

result of that controversy. aa I aentioned in my dedication speech for the 

Bi •• chower monument (at West Point). great antagonism arose within the 

aervices 1n trying to get a hold on space. As it happened. the A~y had 

the sre.teat wherewithal 'and program in the space area. We had Wernher von 

Braun and hia people that we had brought over from Peenemunde. The Air 

Force and the Navy also wanted a big chunk of apace. As 1 pointed out to 

the public, General El.enhowar saw the problema of inter.erviee rivalry OD 

the apace issue. and be decided that this was not the role of the armed 

service.. In hi. opinion--and he had lots of advi.ers on this--the require-

ments for apace wera g01ng to be far in excels of what any of the services 

could expect in money or personnel. He dec:1ded that we were 801ug to have 

ana ther agency. NASA. to handle the space problem. and then the services 

could get back to their original basic mi8810ns. 

MaUoff: I take it you went along with this as Chairman? 

Leanitzer: Absolutely. This was a difficult one for me a8 foraer Chief 

of S taU of the Array. 

Matloff: That's why I asked before, did you find your position as former 

Array Chief of Staff a help or a handIcap at tiaes? 

Lell1'litzer: But when the President made bi. decision and said there vas not 

goln8 to be anything in the services on space. 1 accepted it wholeheartedly 

and continued to support it. 
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Matloff: Bow closely dld the Presidents and Secretaries of Defense that 

you served wi~h a. Chairman follow the developments in military atrate.,1 

I am thinkina DOW about lisenhower and Kennedy, and spaakina about Cat.s 

and McHallara. 

Le1lll1tzer: lt l
• harcl to compare them, beeause Presldent lieenhawer w .. 80 

fa.Ular wi th the baeklraund of sOIle of the things tba t were c01Iina al0118 

in weapons. at. ail •• , COIImmlca tiona. helicopters, and thinlS of this kind, 

by virtue of his being a former Chief of Staff and his clo.e .. sociation 

With the ail1tary. He bad a quite different attitude than President lenDedy, 

for esa.ple, who had no background and experience in it. 

Matloff: Bow about among the Secretaries of Defense? Did you find any dlf-

Letmitzer: Graatly. You didn't have to 8pell thinga out in too .uch detail 

for Secretary Catea. but when Secretary McNaaara came In. it vas quite a 

drastic change. He wanted to get into all the detaUs. And therein lay 

aome of the proble.. that we had. As you probably know. shortly after 

President Kennedy .. s elected president. he made his firat appoint .. nt--

MeNaqata a. Secretary of Defeu.e. McNamara set up an office alanaside 

Secretary Catea and started to get dlht iDto the busineas, but Secretary 

Gates made it clear that he vas still Secretary. I remeaber SQg8 of the 

COIaIent8 that Secretary K.c:Namara made, that he was g01ns to cut down the size of 

the Defenae Department. that it had much too much people, only to find, as 

years went on, that he took unto the Defense Department lUIly of the th1qs 
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tbat wara the r8apoaaibillties of the services, particularly in procure-

_nt. and thinsa of thb kind. It expandeel rather than elecl1oacl. 

Matloff: This rai •• _ a question in conaection with strategic planning. 

The·McNamara period ie usually a •• ociated with utilizing coat analysis 

techniquea, or systeu analysis. What were the etreugtha or wealt._._ 
of the ayste.. analyst. approach in connection with the work of the Joint 

Chiefa aRd Joint Staff? 1'. apeaking specifically in the atrategy field. 

Bow elld you react to that? 

Leanit:zer: Very controversial. When we would work long and hard to resolve 

_0. of the issue. between the .ardces and produce a final docWllent to 

get to the Secretary of Defenae, anel in following it up f1nd oat that it 

was aent down to a ayateu analyda group with no lIil1tary experience at 

all, and depending on thell primarily. whether to approve or modify it, it 

d1cln't go well with the Chiefs, as you can imaglue t beeauae here were a 

lot of youns. brilliant people, hut without any experIence. 

Hatloff: Are you apeaking particularly of Dr. Rnthoven'a analysts? 

Lemaitser: That'a right. 

Matloff: Let .. uk you this question about the atrategy of flexible 

reallC?nee which basaD to COM into the neva aore and IIOre, particularly 

with the c:oalog of the Kenaeely adainistraUon. Row iaportant did you 

regard the adoption of the military atrategy of flexible reaponaeT 

Did this ait well with you, in light of your previoul line of tbiu1r.iq? 

La_nitzer: 1 conaldered it ODe of the moat iaportaut adoptions of overall 

Btrategy. It va. obvious that with the progre.. that the Soviet UDiOD wa. 
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making in auclear weapons, it was 8tupid to c:ondder the IUIssive retalu-

tion concept, which was before it. 1 had a lot of difficulty on this with 

General De Gaulle later on. 

Hatloff: In your SACEUR hat? 

LellDitzer: When I was Vice Chief and Chief of Staff, and so 00, it waa 80 

obvious tbat we were not g01ng to nuclear war because there was a small 

attack on the western front. 

Matlotf: Did you bave any proble •• with Dulles or any of the other expo-

nents of maasive retaliation, particularly in the lisenhower adainistra-

tion, since this is identified with the ma.sive retaliation policy. 

LeJmitaer: No, I think that within the Defense Departllent and within the 

Joint Chiefs the proble. was primarily with the Air Force on this one. 

Matloff: Rather than with State, and with the Secretary of State, who had 

enunciated the doctrine? 

Leanitzer: I don't recall tbat we had any Ireat difficulty in the acceptance 

of flexible reapon.e in lieu of .... ive retaliation. 

Matloff: One aspect of flexible response 18, of courae, the 11mited war 

option. Dld you view tbat aa an important option for the President to have? 

Under .... ive retaliation there .88 soae question about the role of 1i.1ted 

war. 

Lellllitzer: It is all wrapped up in the eame ball of wax. It was obvioU8 

that we were dealing with a power that didn't have any nuclear weapons at 

one time, and DOW it had a considerable capability, almoat eoaing OD. to 

match our own, and that we were golng to nuclear war for ainor i.suea 
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1eaue.. Aod the prindple difficulty in changing that over in our dealins 

with NATO and 80 on waa primarily with the French. 

Matloff: You DIet up with thia proble. 1n both your capadties. When we 

ca.e to the NATO area, wa'll talk about that part of it later. if we .. y. 

Let .. direct your attention to the criaia areaa that aroae when you were 

1n the ChAiraants role, for ezaaple, the Bay of Pigs. What was the role of 

the Joint Chiefa of Staff and of ita Cbairun in that invaaion and crisis? 

Le.nitzer: The role of tbe Chiefa waa merely to keep in contact with the 

plannins that was 80ing OIl in State aacl CIA. and to offer advice 011 .pe-

cific questioDS, or occasionally, when our contact officer saw that aome-

thing was COllin& uP. to give advice. But the advice vas &eIdola requested 

and aeldo. adopted. 

Matloff: Who set the instruction on &ivins advice to the CIA? 

Le.nltzer: Occasionally Hr. Bla8e11 wa. head of the planninl in CIA. 

Matloff: I meant who set the para_tera of the role of the Joint Chiefs in 

in this connection? Was it the President? The Secretary of Defenae? 

Leaaltzer: Just as it bad been accepted, the noma! 1d11tary adviaers to 

things that were loina on in the political and foreign policy field. 

Matloff: There waa no special instruction in this caae? 

Leaaitzer: No, none. 

Matloff: Were the vieva of the Joint Chiefs of Staff sought? Did anybody 

.eek the views of the Joint Chiefs of Staff in planning this operation? 

Leanitzer: No, I want to gat this one very clear. Certain aspecta were 

•• ntioned to the Cb~efa. This waa a CIA project. I've had hundreds of 
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interview on this, and I try to e.p~8ize these features. becau8e Iwa8 

r1sht in the aiddle of this oae. The idea started in the last montha of 

Bi.enhower's presidency. The idea vas that trouble was brewing in Cuba; 

that Castro had turned out to be a cODmunilt; and that there were lots of 

Cubans around and throush Central America who were violently opposed to 

Ca8tro. The project was conceived within CIA to build uP. train, and 

equip a force of Cubans to make a night landiIll on a rallOte part of Cuba 

to Cee up into a redoubt where they could not be succelsfully dealt with, 

and that would provide a rallying point for the Cuban people. That waa 

the concept. As tiDe went on, planning beaan to change, and we never had 

a hand in deciding that you should do this or tbat. We did &1ve an indi-

cation that there was a reasonable chance of succea. of a Cuban force 

malting a clandestine landill8 under cover of darkne8s in a remote part of 

Cuba to get into a redoubt. Yea, we aaid that there was a reasonable 

chance of succe.s. We Dever had a chance to look at the whole plan 

because it kept changing. It chanced to a Nomandy type of landing at 

the .oat vulnerable part riCht near where Castro's .ilitery capabilitles 

were. 

Hatloff: Would you say that the JCS were adequately inforaeci in the course 

of this plannin8? 

LeIlD.1Uer: I don't know how you would mea.ure the worci "adequately." 

Hatloff: Were tbey kept abreaat of the chanaaa In the plan, for exaaple7 

Le1Ull tzar: As the change. wera going on ~ they were never put up to the 

Joint Chiefs of Staff to approve or di8approve. We were on the outside 
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of the planDina. Mr. Bi88811 and hi. staff held it very closely, .a they 

should have. Of course, one of the critical factors, as 1 pointed out 

before the Senate collalttee, was the president's decis10n to cancel the 

air attack on Cuban forces the morning of the day of the landing. 

Matloff: Were the Joint Chiefs of Staff informed of that before be did it! 

Lemnltzer: No, never. 

Matloff: What else went wrong in handling the operation, would you say, 

in looking back, aaide froa the problells of planning, logistica, and 

airlift? 

Lellllitzer: The cotUltant changing, bit by bit, in the concept. They were 

saall individual chauges Which reaulted in a dra.tic change of the concept 

of the whole thing. 

Matloff: What 1.s80na would you say were learned fraa the handlins of 

that operation! 

Lallnitzer: That there was DOt doa. enough contact. It was in the wrong 

place. The original concept we agreed with. Tbere were lots of clandestine 

operations llke this going on all around the world. But this one changed. 

It involved ... 11 chanse., but it ultill8tely came to a drastic chanse in 

the concept. It went so far as to cancel the JaOat critical part of the 

whole attack, without notifying or asking the Chief. about it. There waa 

not clos. enough contact, al80, during the planDing of tbis. 

Matloff: Between wholl? 

LelllDitzer: Between the Chiefs, or the Defena. nepartment, and the CIA. 
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Matloff: You recall that there was a study group set up afterwards, the 

Cubam Study Group so-called? 

te.mitler: YeB. I do. General Taylor ran it. 

Matloff: They came out with some recaaBendations about the role of the 

Joint Chiefs of Staff in Cold War operations. DId you agree with those 

recoauaelUla tiona? 

Le1mi tzer: 1 don' t recall wha t they were. 

Matloff: There was some discussion that the Joint Chiefa would have to 

be drawn in IIOre on questions of economic and polItical lIBtters. They 

couldn't be left out; they ~uld. have to be consulted. Their opinion and 

advice would have to be drawn upon, too, alllODI other things. 

Lemnitzer: This is sort of an Id.-listie stateaaent--that there should 

be closer contact. Implied was that if the Joint Chiefs bad made a reeoa-

.eadation it would be adopted. Those are things that didn't occur. 

Katlof£: Were you eODsulted by tbat study group, do you recall? 

Lumitzer: Not consulted, no. 

Matloff: It was an independent group? 

La.nltzar: That vas an independent group, with Gen. 'taylor and Bobby Kennedy. 

Matloff: ADM Burke wa. on it. 

Leanltzer: light. 

MaUoff: Another development which you may alao remember was that Xenuedy 

gave instructions, following the Bay of Pigs operation. that the Joint 

Chief. of Staff should henceforth look at questions transcendiDg purely 

ailltary cODsiderations. Does that ring a bell? 
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LeaDitzers I remeaber it very well. 

Matlofft Were you and the Joint Chiefs coafortable with thea. instruetions? 

Lemnitzer: No, abeolutely not. Let ae tell you vhere it c .. e to a head--

at one of the ftrst .eetinls of the National Security CouucU after ~enaed,. 

became President. I aecOlipanied Secretary MeNaura to that .. etiq. I 

think it was only about the third or fourth aeeting_ We went through the 

agenda. I was Dot a .. _ber of the Council, but I wa. in attendance, and 

after ve vent throuah the regular azenda that was circulated. the Preaident 

aaid, "I understand you fellow8 want to talk about Korea." So, aome guy in 

the back. row sot up and said, "Yes air. ". have studied and evaluated the 

Xorean situat10n and we recoaaend that the ~r1c:an troops be withdrawn 

fro. Korea 88 it 18 very likely to get us involved io a war on the contiaent 

of Asla." And so I thought to .yself, ay God, I vander where I vas in all 

thh, and I said to Secretary McNaaara, "Mr. Secretary, what the hell 18 

all this about, did you knov that this study was golna aD?" He responded, 

"r beard tbat they were going to uke a study of tt. Don't you knovanything?" 

1 said, "Never heard of it. The Joint Chiefs of Staff had never heard of 

it." Be said, "Mr. President, Gen. Lemnitler earlier this year or last 

year had a d1vi810n in Korea, and he's surprised at this recoaaendation. I 

sugpst that he explain the a1 tuatiOD to you." So I Baid. "This recOllllleoda-

tiOD which involves Withdrawal of ailitary force. froa the continent of 

Asia bas Q8ver been referred to the Joint Chiefa of Staff." The President 

was kind of shaken by this, and then 1 said. "I bad • division in Korea; I 

know the Korean situation very well; and I know 1 caD speak on the views of 
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the Joint Chief. of Staff. We would DOt racomaend UDder any clrcua8tances 

che withdrawal of AIIerian forces frOlll Korea. We've got a great investment 

:in Xorea... I bad the nuaber of casual ties and wounded, and even the _ney 

at .y finsertips in those day., and I said. ~It'8 just incredible that auch 

a study could be made without the Joint Chiefs of Staff views and 1 can 

aasure you that the Joint Chiefs of Staff are unanimously opposed." The 

President got kind of red in the face. and he said, "That's all for this 

.. eting. The meetlns'. adjourned." We never heard another thing about 

it until the year that Mr. Carter .sa wnnina fol' predelent. when the 

a.ae thina vas recomaended agaln, by tbe same people, over in State. 

Matloff: In this question of the area in wbich the Joint Cbiefs sbould 

be operating after the Bay of Pils operation·-the rec~dation that 

they look at queations transcending purely military conalderationa--your 

feel1ns was that this was not the proper role for the Joint Chief.? Do I 

understand that correctly, or not? 

Lemniuer: Ye., it waa. I '. glad that you aentioned thi •• because I had 

gotten off the track a little bit. On one study that they had, the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff were opposed to acnae aetion that was tak.en. Either CIA or 

State va. getting more algressive in an action. The President at the end 

of the National Security Council .. etinl directed that the Joint Chiefs 

of Staff study the econoaic and other aspects and not restrict their recoa-

mend.tiona to the military. That'. riaht. 

Matloff: Did you feel that was good and proper guidance? 

Lemnltser: I thought that it was crazy. 
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Matloff: That th1B was not the proper area for the Joint Chiefs? 

Lemnitzer: Because we could not have the basis for the study of the 

economic :lJapacta of it. I thought that waa about the IIOst far out deci810n 

that President Kennedy .. de, to.y knowledge. during hi. tenure. 

Katloff: In lookiDg at the recorda, I learned that later on President 

Johnson issued aiailar in8tructiona. 

Leui tzer : He did., I dida' t know tba t. 

Katloff: Soon after he came into offica. Let's focua on the crisis that 

aro.e in Berlin in 1961. Do you recall the role of the Joint Chiefa In 

that criaiat Por example, on tbe call up of the reaerves? Did you and 

the Joint Chiefa feal that thi. waa a good ~co ... ndation1 Do you remember 

the logic? Why yOu faIt that way? 

Leanitzer: We recoa_dad it. Let'a see, bow to get at this. President 

Xennedy had two deep concerna when ba took over. I briefed him for three 

or four day. at the residence he was occupyina in Georgetown before the 

inauguration, and I aaked Pre.ident Ei .. nhower every time I bad a chance, 

"Would you please paas this on to President Kennedy when be takes over, 

becauae be haln't any background in this,'" One of Kennedy'. concerns was 

that he would be awakened at two o'clock in the lIIOrning with the news 

that there was a flock of airplane. and ml •• 11 •• on the way and that he 
, 

should launch our tetaliatory weapons. He felt that thta could happen. 

Th. other thina be worried about wa. that 8011e seraeant or lieutenant 

would eet 81lgry at the Soviet baras8ment on the Autobahn in Europe 

and would shoot a gun. Thos. two things bothered hi. very very deeply. 
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So, on the occasion of the bulldilll of the Berlin wall. we didn't know what 

was going to happen. We had no in~elilgence of what Khrushchev's total 

plan was. But here they were building a wall about siz inche. avay fro. 

the border line and putting a cage around Berlin. We considered in the 

Chief. the question of "What the hell can ve do'" 1 carried the ball. I 

va. the repre.entative et the big meeting at the White House, I was on the 

second story at the White House in a big roaD, in vhich everybody val 

shaken by this decision to build a wall. Everybody had a different idea 

as to what we should do. I recOIUIeJlded in behalf of the Chiefs that we do 

not ait Idly by and have this go on without ea.e positive reaction. Our 

reactioD was ~t we should aend a couple of divisions to Europe; ve should 

call up reaerves or the National Guard; and we should reinforce our force. 

in Berlin by one brigade. The Viee President was in Europe at the tiaevis-

iting in Berlin and it wa. augaested that he stay there to receive the 

additional brigade coaing into Berlin. That action va. taken. And the 

President approved, in spite of the fact that every other agency at that 

meettng said that What we were proposing would be provocative. 

~tloff: How about the State Department! Do you recall its position! 

Leanitzer: It was DOt in favor of It. 

Matloff: Not in favor of the call up of reservea? 

Leanitzer: I don't recall that they opposed it; they certaiuly didn't sup-

port it. No one at this meet1ug supported callIng up reaerves and sending 

additional troops to Europe. Everyone thought it was provocative. 

~tloff: Thil railes a question about the handling of thi8 crists, cOillpared 

with that of the Bay of Pigs. What was the differencel 
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Le1mitzer: Adlairal Burk.e and I were with P1'881.dent !tenDedy on the afternoon 

of the 17th of April [1961]--1 think that was the date of the Bay of PigB--and 

we ... that the President was very, very troubled. Bobby !tannedy was in and 

out occa.ionally. It was obvious that President XenDedy recalled aODe of 

the declalonB that bad been made, particularly the cancelling of the air 

attack. You could just Bee the t.pact of the Berlin wall regiatering on 

the Pre.idenl, and his reaction in approving the Joint Chief recommendatlon. 

I waa at the Athena .. eting of the NATO mlDistera, at which nuclear 

luidelines were adopted for the firat time. .It was in May of President 

Kennedy'. firet year. As Secretary McNamara and I were getting ready to 

leave, we sot a directive frOil the prea1dent, to get to lanSkok. The 

Pathet Lao had broken the ceaae-fire moratoriua, and had come down to the 

Hakon, Kiver. Our directive from the President waa to determine Whether 

tbe llakona Ki.,er was a aufficient obstacle to keep the Pathet Lao from 

soin8 into Thailand and whether tbe Thais bad the capability to atop the 

infiltratlon of Pathet Lao into Thailand. 

MatloffJ Thi, tasue came up durina the Berlin crials! 

L~tK.r: Shortly thereafter. It waa in May of the firatyear. 

Matloff: So you vere gettiac cri,is after criBia. 

tc.nitzer: Secretary HcNaaara aDd I flew fro. Athena, aDd lDatead of gOlDI 

to Washinaton, waut to Bangkok, and looked at the a1tuation. The Mekons 

River in the dry ae.son in May vaa Dot an obatecle at all. 
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Marshal Sarlt U) and Secretary MeNamara elasbed very sharply on wbo woulel 

pay for the equipaent for the establishment of a border security force. 

And 80 nothins WU 8COIlpl1aheel. But We'll we returneel from that trip--we 

vent to Saigon and baek to Wa.hington-- we recoaeuded. aDd Secretary HcRamara 

aareeel, that we sed an hfantTy battalion and a tactical air force to each 

of two air bales in northern Thailanel. 

Matloff: Weill talk about the east Asia probl •• soon. You weTe speakiq 

about the differences in the handling of the Bay of Pias and the Berlin 

crisis. What did you take away as the lesson. of the crisis over BerUn in 

dealinl with the So?let Union, and about AmeriC8n handllng of the crials? 

Laamitaera There was no problelll. because they were .. 1litary act1?itiea. 

The milltary had control of it. We didn't ha?e a0a8 alency like CIA oper-

aUng OIlt in left fielel. We weTe deaUna with our own mUitary capabilities 

in responeling to these things. 

Matloff: I think that 18 probably wbat leel you to the Thailand !altUS, because 

there again there vae a recom.endation about some application of force. 

Leanitzer: We were to occupy two urbas.s in northern Tha1laDel to let the 

Pa thet Lao know tha t we weren' t loing to • tand idly by and see the. co.e 

down anel inflltTate aortbern Thailand. 

MaUoff: Woulel it be fall' then to 8ay that thi8 waB one of the leaaons that 

you drew fro. the Berlin experience, that there had to be a de.an8tration 

of force of soae kind? 

Leanltzer: It waa, yes. 
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Hatloff: Sinee we're onto Southeast Asia, let'. talk & little bit about 

Laoa and Vietnaa. 

La_1tzer: Wait a lIlinute, the Bay of Piga was on the 17th of April. The 

Athena auldeline. meeting and then the recommendation to go into ThailaDd, 

were in Hay, the next lIOnth. 

Matloff: We a180 have the Berlin cri,is slithering in. 

Lellnitzer: Bmctly. In the •• we had the authority of the President, lIho 

approved the action., and It waa up to us to carry them out. 

Macioff; Thia was the biS difference fro. the handling of the Bay of Piss 

operation. On the Laos and Vietnas involvement, what. do you think wa. at 

stake for American security in these areas during your tenure .. Chairman? 

Do you feel that there vas an important stake here for ~erican aecurity? 

R.ealeabar, thete wu the civil war in Laos, and it waa the beginning of an 

involv ... nt of sorta in Vietnam aa vell. Was there any agreement in the 

Joint Chief., or between the Joint Chiefs and the Seeretary of Defense, 

that Aaerican security intereats were involved in the developaents in Laos 

and Vietnam? 

Lellllitzer: The first decll10na that vere made dealt with hov you carry out 

the provisiona of the Geneva accord with resard to Southeaat Asia. As you 

know, 12 uUou attended that particular conference in Geneva. Tbe United 

Statea did not sign the resolution that was made, but it divided Southeast 

Asia into four parts--Laos, Cambodia, North Vietnam, South Vietnam. The 

decl.loR wa ... de by the President and approved by the CongreBB, that we 

were going to assist South V1etnea in building up its security, ita &CODOIIY, 
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and SO 011. Tbat waa our objective. We were doing the ... in' varioua parts 

of the world. And so we firat .ent a military advisory group into Saigon. 

MaUoff: This is in the wake of the Geneva Conferenee of 1954 't 

Le1lll1itzer: Yea. 

hUoff: Did you have any impr.asions of Diea'l I dou't know whether you 

ever met up with hill? 

Lemnitzer: A great 1I&uy ti_s. 1 vi&itecl Saigon with Secretary &Nasara; it 

must have been 8 or 10 times. Bach time we had long conferencas with President 

Diell. I admired President Die., wIlo waa a great leader. His weakneaa lay 

in the fora of the action his brother was involved in. Up until the time I 

left to go to Pads to take over as &ACIUR., I had great confidence in Diem. 

But I loat tr.ck of the developaent. in Diem's situation and I was greatly 

shocked when I heard of his assassination. 

Matlofh Thete haa been aOlae thinking that had he remained on the scene 

actively. events alght have gone S01Iewbat differently. 

Leanitzer: I'll sure. But with hi. leadership. 

Hatloff: Did you belie ... 1n the doaiDO theory about Southeast As!a? 

Lemnitzer: I won't .ay that I belIeved in it. t believed that if the 

Horth Vietnallese succeeded in overrunin8 South V1etnall., they would overrun 

Laos and Caabodia, yea. If that's an expression of the da.ino theory. one 

atate fall1ng after anotber, I believed in it. 

Matloff: Do you recall in conection with the civil war Boing on in Laos In 

1961, the .... year in whieh all thea. crisea were breaking, whether you 

\ 

\ 
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Lam.itzerl No. I don't thtuk. that we recoaameucled the use of force. We 

recoaaended the military advisory group there. 

Hatloff :Hov diel you evaluate the KenDedy role in handling the Laos civil 

war crl81a'l 

Lftni tzer: I vaan t t around here too long af tel' the t. I was over in SHAPE. 

Matloff: Were you around When Kennedy decided to aend advisors to Vietna_? 

LellDitzera Yea. 

Matloff: Was thi. issue put to the Joint Chier. for couultatioD or advice? 

Were the Joint Chiefa broulht in on this, and did they go along with thia? 

La.nitzer: The Chiefs went aloD8. just like with MAAGS 1n various countries 

all around the world. I don't know how many MAAGS. I had a hand in •• tab-

lishlng the MAAGS for the handling of military equipment. 

Hatloff: You saw this ae another step 1n the r1aht direction. 

Leanltzer: That'. rigbt. 

Matloff: Let me project ahead DOW. You aay not want to 80 into this area, 

but In your view, did we fall in Vietnam, and if so, why and in wbat respects! 

Lemn1tzer: We failed 111 Vietnam. yea. Definitely it was a defeat. both a 

military aud a political defeat. In.y opinion, a8 a .attar of fact I've 

lectured on this allover, it'a the first major mUltary defeat in American 

hiatory. 

Katloff: llow would you evaluate Kenuedy'. role in handling the Vietnaa 

eriai., aa you look back on it? 

Leanltzar: I thought up until the time I l.ft as Cbail'lUll that be "at 

d01na reaaonably well and that he had the r11ht objective. He wanted to 
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prevent theae nations frOll going collll.un1et, and he dUn't bave any partic-

ular alternative. That was our solution 1n those days. Tba~ was standard 

operatins proeeduTe. 

Matlofft Was the factor, in your view, as you look back now, of Aaerican 

public opinion taken .ufficiently into account in waSing a limited war that 

became protracted? The writers on li.ited war have had sober second thoughts 

OD this subject. 

Lamnitzera I don't think that the public for a long Use UIlc1.rs~oocl what 1'8str1c­

tions and limitations were put on the milItary. t think the great failure in 

V1etDalll was the way we handled our own forces. We did DOt take the wraps off. 

1 recall Sitting in lilY office at SHAlE just outside of Paris. I opened ~ 

Herald Tribun •• and I learned that President Johnson at a pre.8 conference 

announced that we would never attack North Vietnam. I thought, for God's 

sake, what kind of a war is this? If we had turned our people loose, and 

made a proper attack on the North, up around Hanoi, and 80 forth, it would 

bave been an entirely different war. But 1 waa involved not by rellOte 

control and the only thing that worried me waa the persia tent restrictions 

upon the use of the United States .111tary forcea. 

Matloff: Can you think of waya in which other Vietnaa8 can be avoided! 

Leamitzar: Yea, I can conc:etve that 1£ we're careful ud decide that u.s. 

military action is nece88ary. we use the full power of the military to win. 

Kstloff: Let tie turn your attention. 1£ I may. to 80ae Cold War policies 

in general. You relle.ber that bae1cally we were opera tins under the policy 

of containment. Old you believe that this was a realistic policy? that the 

a88uaptiona which underlay containaent were realistic or credible! 
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taBUlar: Yea. r did. I dId have certain exceptions to the !cIq of con-

taiument because 1 was a meaher of the tea.. that were involved in a study 

known 88 Barcia. Solariua. I vas in London on the Kerait RoMevalt lec-

turea, and I visited ay aon, vho was a lieutenant assigned to Germany. 

After the lecturing part of my viii t. 1IY vife and I took a couple weeks 

leave to visit him. 

MaUoff: Do you remeeer about what year this waa? 

Lemnitzerl That was the first year of President Eisenhower's tenure aa 

President. We went out to dinner the night I got into Geraany. and damned 

1f a motorcycle courier didn't arrive and deliver a me.sase to 1Ie to return 

to Washington tmmedlately. I W88 Deputy Coamandant of the National War 

College. I waa getting the ailitary aid prograa underway, and I wa. working 

on the NATO treaty. I had to come back quickly. In the early IIOnths the 

President and Secretary Dull •• held a conference--Dulle8 was visiting the 

President up on the top of the Whl te Hou •• J in the 8OIarium--and General 

Eisenhower decided to have all. overall study on the strategy that we should 

undertake during his administration. When I came back, 1 found out that I 

was assigned to a te... There were three teams. One was headed by George 

Kennan, who advocated contai1llllent; another one was a litUe bit more aggras-

sive type of policy; and the third one wa. a considerably !Dare aggres8ive 

type. I was .. siped to the third team. 

Metloff. The .ost aggre •• lve team? 

Le1lI1l tzer: Yes. I made the presenta tion for our tea.. a t the end of the 

six weeks period, during the 8umaertime. at the National War College. 
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Kenaan save the conclualona of hi8 tea., and 1 forget *0 was the next one. 

ADM Connelly, who was the head of our teaa, was the preBident of the Naval 

War College at the tiae. OUT tea.'. recOllMndation was to be IIOre aare8-

sive--the Pre.ldent's question of Queaoy and Matsu was very much in the wind 

at that tiae-that we should be a lot more agares.lve, help the Chineee, 

and be claaned aure that the c.omauni8ta don't take Queaoy. That was the 

1III08t populaT recOIIlandation. I forget the wording·ia the recOllUadat1on, 

but it called for a such more aggresslve policy. It lasted until the 

bud,et was put together J and it coat too heh. 

Matlott: The reca.mendat1oD of your team? 

LeuitzeT: Yea. Our tea.'. recOll1l8Udation involved too much preparation and 

building up too aany forcea for it, and taking too much of a .ilitart8tic 

approach. 

Matlolf' Basically you felt that the a8_ptiona of the coD~ainaent policy 

were valid? 

Leanitzer: Valid with a bit of building up of our strength so as to 888iat 

ln containment and to reaist iatrudlng in other parts of the world, if 

necessary. 

Matloffs I WUlt to uk. you a queetion alBa on military aid. You'w spoken 

on this and ware involved in this for so many years. Bow effective do you 

view mll1 tary aid It on the basis of your long apedence with 1t. .s a tool 

in the Cold War? 18 there a &eneral i.pre.810n that you have? Do you see 

it as effective in soae cases, not in others? 

Lemn1t.er: I think that military aid .a. extremely effective under the 

conditione that existed. When I was sent to London by Mr. Porreatal to 
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a1 t in on the .Ui tary coauai t tee of the five powera--B1:ita in. France, Belg1ua. 

Netherlands, and Luxeaboura--the one directive we got fro. M1:. Forrestal wa. 

to find out what they needed. It was the eaBieat a .. 1gnment I ever had. I 

sat in on two days of the meeting and I fouad out that they needed everything_ 

They were flat OR their faces as a result of the war. There vas no military 

power in Europe, which was wide open to the Soviet Union. I felt that the 

original .t1ttary aid program was designed to assiat our European friends. 

But wbat happened7 Loui. Johnson vas the Secretary of Defense. lie wa. 

opposed to military aid. lie were just getting the military progra. underway 

when the Korean liar broke out. So what waa planned for Europe bad to be 

apread around to Korea. I have a couple of yarna to tell about the appearance 

of General Bradley and myself before the ForeigD Affairs Co.-ittee of the 

Houee. We vere presenting the silitary aid progra., that fIrst budget, to 

the Committee on the 25th of June, 1950. 1 got home from the presentation 

on a Saturday noon, and I found out that the war bad started in Korea. The 

committee started raisina hell with me. They were approving about a billion 

dollar budget, and a.kina whether we were getting the organization started. 

They were always battering me as to how .uch we were going to send to Korea. 

The eollaittee was .. "Ina, "What can we send to Korea? Take all the wraps 

off and 81ve thea anything that is available. The South Koreana need help.-

So I sent ..... , •• over and I asked Gen. MacArthur's beadquartera to let us 

know what they could get for Korea. Every day we used to catch hell because 

there were no answera from MacArthur's headquarters. The" vere trying to 

fight a war. 1111 never forget, if 1 live to be a thousand years old. I 
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got a lIe ... ge fro. MacArthur' a headquarters, and it told me what we were 

going to giTe under the atlitary aid prosrall to ~orea. Do you know what it 

wa8f It was 200 1I11es of field wire. I was tangled up in that G--~ 

field wire for the rest of 1IY time on the military aid prosr... That was 

the ooly thing that we had there. The Eighth Amy was diaors.nbed. It 

was only an occupying force. It didn't have a lot of equipaent that could 

be turned over to the Koreana. But the point I'. makIng i. that of the 

lillited resourc •• of the military aid prograa, which waa designed for 

Europe, a large amount had to 80 to ~orea, and al80 we bad to g1 ve 101le to 

the French ffshting in Southeaat Asia. So the first budgetary amounts were 

spread. 1 was hare in Wuhington and living in the Pentagon the day that 1 

went out with Secretary Johnson to Andrews Air Force Baae for the firat 

1-17a, under the prograa, to be delivered to the British. 

Matloff: So the progr81l got 80118what diluted? 

Leaitzet: Yes. Diluted badly. 

Matloff' Did this have an iapact on its effeetheneas in certain areas of 

the world? 

LeJanitzer: It did, because it waa spread over 80 laUch. 

Matloff: I won't belabor the question which i8 often raised by some historians 

about the origins of the Cold War. There's a revisionist theals, that the Cold 

War i. a8 lIuch the responsibility of the United States a8 of the Soviet Union. 

8aae historians, particularly leftist historians, have been .aintalnins that 

the Russians were reaetins toaggre.81ve Aaerlcan polict.s in the p08twar 

period. Do you put any stock in that? 
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Lean1tzer: No, I don't, absolutely not, because the Ru.sians did not dellO-

bilize. That vas one of the main features that caused the military aid 

prolra. to be adopted. Our European all1es--they were DOt our allie8 in 

1946, '47 and '48--vera powarlesse Their military forces did not exist; 

their econOiliea were in bad repair. l'be mUitary aid program.as to provide 

the beginning of the rebuild1na of the1r military forees. The reason that 

NATO wal adopted val that the Russian threat, not baving demobillzed after 

WIl, wu so great, that there vas no way that they could handle it th •• -

selves. I think it was right. Now, here 1 had s problem in this building 

in the military aid proaram. I found out that tha Joint Chief. of Staff 

wera starting to grumble and growl that I va. working aD a prolram that WB8 

goiJ1g to take a lot of their equipatent .way from thea. And we were. 1 

remember a conversetion I had vith Gen. COllIns, who vas really .y bos •• 

Be was Chief of Staff of the Amy. I remember that I said to him, -But 

General, if we don't use our military equipment affectively, to build up 

the strenath of our allies, you are golng to have to use World War 11 equip-

JIle1lt in the United States Army for 50 years. The only way youlre going to 

get any na. aqulpaant ia to get rid of this equipment and strengthen our 

allies. M That's the arguaent that I used on the Hill. Surely, we bad 

this equipment running out of our ears. 

Matloff: That proved to be an effective argUlllent'l 

Lemnitl8rl Absolutely. We got acae substantial budgets. NATO wouldn't 

have bean anything during the time that 1 vas SACEUll if we dldn' t have the 

strength that wa. largely provided by Aaeriean military equipaent. 
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Matloff: Let Ile aslt you 111 the area of anal control and diaaraaaent--th1s 

is still durins the period of Chairman of the Joint Chiefs. What was your 

vie. toward arlls cont!'ol and disamaunt in that pertod! This 18 a pedod 

wban the Joiut Chief. of Staff we!'e coalns up against this question of 

whether there _bould be a coaprehenaive test ban treaty. As I recall it, 

the Joint Chiefs had Ilisgiving_ on that Bcore. Do you recall any vie .. by 

yourself or the Joint Chiefs on the comprehensive test ban treaty? In '63 

we do set the 11aited test ban treaty, actually, but this oue geta turned 

down. 

Le1Ulltzer: I don't recall that we opposed a ,test ban treaty. We bad our 

suspicions about verification. 

Xatloff: Do you recall. was there any pr.saure by the ad.tni.tretion. 

particularly the Xeuuedy adainistratlou t on the Joint Chief. in connection 
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with araa control and disarmanent? in connection with the teat ban treaties? 

Lemnitzer: 1 don't reeall any. 

Hatlofft That suggestion cOllies up later on, and you find it in the Taylor 

book. 

Lean1tzer: In what! 

Hatloff: In Maxwell Taylor's book, Sword. and Plowsharea, the question waa 

rat.ed whether thare waa presaure put on or not put on, but that probably 

waa beyon.d your period, I imagine. 

Lemn1tzerr That'. right, but, in general, our concern was OR the varifica-

tion is.ue all along. We were out in front of the Soviet Union. We didn't 

know too much about what they were doing. We were kind of shaken by their 

getting a nuclear capabIlity and the way they got it. That had a major 

impact upon the flexible reaponse problem and the NATO atrategy. Juaping 

way ahead, I had tbb proble. with Gen. De Gaulle when I was SACEUll, and 

I'll talk about that when we get to that point. 

Matloff: In other words, there was a relationahip between strategic plan·. 

ning and. arms con trol. And this comes, apparently, along with the NATO 

question. 

L81IDitzer: That' 8 correct. 

MaUoff: I'll try to wind up the area of relationa with OSD 1n te1'lDS of 

perspectives. Aa you look back on OSD organization and aanageaent, as a 

result of your experience a8 Cbainum. and auy subsequent reflection that 

you may bave done about tbis question, bow do you see the roles of the Joint 

Chiefa of Staff and the Chairman in the OSD setup? and the relationships 
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between the Joiot Chief. of Staff and the Seeretary of Defense? I'. speak-

ing DOW in teras of any need for chanses In the structure or working rela-

tions at the top levels in OSD. 1'111 lure that you have reflected on th18. 

Le.aitzer: I've testified before Congress on about four occasion. 00 the 

question of the reorganization of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. I do DOt 

agree with the .stabUsbaent of sOIlethillS almost equivalent to a single 

Chief of Staff. I'. violently opposed to this. I think that the structure 

we've got can be expanded to meet requirements. It's the conduct of the 

b.-ines. in the Joint Chiefa of Staff that need. looldng at. As I pointed 

out to you, the impasses, and issues. are talked over and theylre sort of 

mollified, In order to set agreement. I think that'. entirely the wrong 

idea. I think that under the paat Cbainaa.D, Gen. Jonea. the Chiefa were 

allowed to be at an iapaaae for weeke and weeks on important issues. 

Matloff: You would insist that they resolve thea? 

Leuluer: In my tiu, they had to reaolve thea within a week or send it 

to the nezt level. The Cabinet couldn't be at an tap .. se more than a week. 

until be issue 80t up to the next level. 

Matloff: Would that be your reca.aandation on thi8? 

Leanitzer: That is correct. I think a sinsle chief of ataff ia dangerous, 

for the reason that he ia affected by hi. military specialty where bie service 

ia. I tbink that you have to have all of your service., because total war 

today inyolves all of the force., land, sea and air. 

Matloff: So you would keep the service. and the depart.enta .. they are now? 

Leanltaer: That's correct. 
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Matloff: How about the Secretary of Defenaet Any chanlea ill his functions 

or his relationships? 

te.n1tzer: No, I think that be responds directly to the President; the 

Chiefs respond to the Secretary of Defensa. rrankly, I've tried to explain 

it in .any vays. It is not a quest10n of the orlanization and the structure, 

as it 1s in personal relationships. When Louis Johnson was the Secretary 

of Defeuse, be didn't uk the Chiefa for any recommendations. He bad his 

own ideas; he ignored thea. He vas violently opposed to NATO; and was 

twice Violently opposed to the military aid program. No structure could 

deal effectively with what was loinl on in those days. I personally feal 

that the relationship between the President and the Secretary of Defense 

depends on personalities. There isn't any structure there; it's personal 

relationships. I believe also that the relationships between the Secretary 

and the Chiefs of Staff are proper. There's a tendency a.ong many of .Y 

friends now that the Chairman oulht to be in the chain of coamand. I dontt 

see that that'. goinl to do any lOad, if you've got the wronl persoualities 

in the Chail'llen. and so forth. The Chairman can have his vieWII. But I 

reme.ber a stateaent that Adairal King made at one time. I wasn't a very 

enthu.iatic .upporter of ADM Kinl_ But after the war 1 was Gen. Marshall's 

representative on the Joint Strategie Survey Ca.aittea. and I read a 8tate-

'lDent that the CNO brought. ADM Kinl said that he wa. fru.trated and 1.,.-

tient during the war with the Joint Chiefs of Staff operation. But he aaid, 

-In Tetro.pect, after we dlscuaaed and argued a major decision within the 

Joint Chiefa of Staff, we invariably got a better decision than we would 
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have lotten if they bad adopted., decision initially.- He said that after 

the discusslons, which caused hi. a lot of pain, because of delay and 80 

forth. C&lU a better decision than when he fir.t arrived at a reeo_adation. 

Matloff: Let.e turn to the personalities, .tyl.s, the effectiven •• s of 

the Secretaries of Defense and other top officials in OSD and the Joint 

Chiefa of Staff with whoa you worked over the years. Let.e start with 

McElroy. one of the Seeretaries with whoa you bad aoae dealings. Do you 

have any impreasions of bi. a8 a Secretary of Defense--how he vorked and 

how he appeared to you in ter.s of 8tyle and effectivene •• ' 

Le.Ditzer: Yea. My i.pression of Secretary McElroy vaa, first, that he 

had a ahort fuze. Be vas inclined to make decislons before they were 

carefully thoulht out. We had no difficulty with support that he gave to 

the .111 tary, but he va. inclined to be too quick on the trigger. 

Madoff: Hov about Gat .. , 

Leanitzer: One of the best. And. I attribute it partly to bi. service .. 

Navy Secretary and partly to hi. general personality. He va. careful, thor-

ough, decisive. 

Ka doff: Mclfaaara'l 

Le1IUaitzer: A tendency to try to dUute or oversee important .Uitary dec1-

siona aa a result of hia aatting up the ayatea. analy.i. staff. I thought 

that he was inclined to deal too much in the detail. of the service., with 

their procurement and thinas of that kind. I vas stronlly oppo.ed to tha 

restrictions ~t he imposed on the military durina the eveuta to the var 

in Southeast Asia. The restrictions came fro. hi. and his adainiatratlon. 
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They didn't always co •• froa Cangresa. There Wal bI ... enough to go all 

the way around. 

Matioff: Gen. TwininS. the predecessor with _OIl you worked? 

Lemnitzer: As Chairman 1 felt that the operationa were slowed down because 

of his iIldecisiveness or his attemptlns to resolve thinss IIOre quickly or 

send thea up to the proper level. 

Matloff: ADM Burke, a meJlber of the Joint Chiefs? 

Lemnitzer: 1 thought that he vaa a great CRO. Be was forthright, very fair, 

but strongly Navy. 

Matloff: Gen. 'l'hoaas Whit., on the Air Foree side. 

Lemnltzer: That's lily classmate. I considered him one of the most rounded. 

intellectual, fair, thorough, dependable .embera of the Chiefs of Staff I 

have known. 

Matloff: One IaOre Air Force man, Gen. Curtis LeMay. 

Lemnitzerz I think leMay vas very positive. He was inclined not to consider 

properly the vie.. or require •• nte of the other services. 

Hatloff: In teras of the moat effective Secretary of Defense with whoa you 

se ned I 1£ you bad to ra te one, WOIIl would you pick? 

Lemnitzera Secretary Gat.s. I vaa with General Marshall for a very ahort 

time, but an dBe overall, Secretary Gates. 

Matloff: I'll rai •• the sa .. question about two presidents, Eisenhower and 

Kennedy. Would you coaaent on their styles, personellti.a and effectivane.st 

You served under many presidents, but I'll pick on those two. If you want 
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to co.men~ 011 any othera, that will be fine. I k.now that you bad worked 

witb Eiaenhower in many capacities. 

Lean1tzer: Yea. 1 caM to the concluaion. a8 I pointed out in my ramark.s 

at West Point, that Eiaenhower was oue of the .ost unifylna presidenta that 

we bad--,mifyina by pulUng iaBUes toBether. That ca .. up very much in .y 

going around and talking to people about the Eia.nhower .anua.nt. They 

said, "Nothins happened during the period of BiBenhower. There wsa peace." 

I reaponded, "But what brought the quiet and peaceful period of e1ght years 

about'l Becaule be daalt with the iuues .a they came up and got them 

resolved in the early stasea, they didn't become major i8.ues." 

Matloff: ThiB rai ... a very interesUna point. There 18 a biS debate 

gains on ..ona the scholars about Biaenhower. Recently there's been a lot 

of literature to tbe effect that he W88 an active preaident, wl1ke the 

earlier view that he was ratiler pas.ive. There has beea. talk of a hidden 

haud leadership, that behind tbe acana. he was really manipulat:11l8 and 

controlling things. Would you 80 along with that! 

Lamltzerl Yes. I would. He settled thins. behind the scenes and without 

a great deal of play. 

Matloff: Could you sbed 80me lisbt on bow and wbere be was gettins bis 

Inforaation and advice a8 president! Would he pull you in, for example, 

au issue. other than Anay, 1f be wanted to use you as a sounding board? 

Did he rely on trusted old frienda and colleagues with whom he bad worked. 

or waa be relying on the formal apparatus? 
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LemultzerJ I belle~ that his expertedce as Supra .. Comaander. 1n dealing 

with the other nations of the world t his alliea t and 80 forth, and the 

periods of his .illtary eerviee .ere a factor in his conduct as president. 

He had a tremendous background. Kennedy didn't have that. 

Matloff: Let's switch DOW to 1tennedy. What 111preuiona do you have of his 

style and his effectivene •• as preaident? 

L81Ulltzer: Id.Y opinion, 1IIhat .tands out about Presielent Kennedy. is a 

great hwlan belng and lncl1vidual. He "a. a fast learner. The thing. 

that he learned fro. the Bay of Pigs stand out. in lIy opinion. id hi. quick 

decision and resolution of mt1ttary probla •• later. 

&t10ff: Than he i.proved as tIu vent on? 

Lemnitzer: That'a correct. I have an opinion of Pre.ident Johnson. lie 

wa. inclined to do a deal in the politics e98n of the .ilitary affairs, but 

he waa not a great leader, in.y opinion. I came to that conclusion when 

a. Supre .. CORm8Dder in Europe 1 was confronted with the Czech invasion in 

1968. I was preaaing the Secretary General of RATO--we can discUS8 this in 

further detal1 when you let on SACBUI--but What I wanted ... politicel 

luidance. We put in effect all the clandeatiue lIilitary arrauseaente and 

plans that we had, but we couldn't get any political guidance from the 

Secretary General. I waa also on the phone with this building. about what 

the pre8ident vas SOiDS to do. 1 got the word that came risht out of the 

White Rouse. I'. sure it caae out of the White Hou.e. He said, "We just 

stand back now anel aee what positiOD our allie. take." That to .e indicated 

co_plete failure of leadership. 
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Hatloff: Let.e ask you one last question. about your role as- Cbalraan. 

Looking back. what do you resard aa your major achieve.ent.or succe.ae. 

during your teDure 88 Chairman? 

Leaoitzerl 1 must put right up at DUmber ODe obtainiQ8 a alngle iDtegrated 

operational plan for the employaent of stratelic weapona--Iettlng that 

particular one resolved. Another ODe was the formation of the Green Berets 

support. It was prlaarlly an Ar.y function, and there was the obvious need 

for a force of that particular kind. Of my achieveraenta of whicb I all 

proud, Dot necessarily as Chairaan of the Joint Chiefs of Staff, I would 

note particularly the military aid programe It produced a 8trenath that 

was badly needed after World War II. I'll tell you another one--not a. 

Chairman, thougb--the adoption of flellible response. That occurred ultl­

mately in NATO when I waa SAACEUt. But the besinnins of it was when 1 va. 

Cbai1'1Un. 

Matloff: On the other side of the coin, any di.appointaenta, any UDCOa-

pleted tasks of that period, that you Wish you could have done lIOre with 

had there been time or had the circumstances baen different? 

Leanit.erl The disappointment vaa in our failure in Southeast Asia, but I 

wa. not in there when the final collapse occurred. We vere on a pretty good 

start, but we failed. Althouah 1 va. in Europe, it wa. a disappointment. 

Matloff: 18 there any queatlon I should have asked you about your chair-

manabip that I dId not? 

Leanitzer: That one I don't knov. 
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